
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

____________________________________
)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA )    
)
)    

v. )    CRIMINAL NO. 1:10-cr-10431-MBB
)            

            )  
ELAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. , )   

)
Defendant. )

____________________________________)

UNITED STATES’ SENTENCING MEMORANDUM

The United States of America submits this memorandum in support of the proposed

sentence set forth in the plea agreement entered into by the parties pursuant to Federal Rule of

Criminal Procedure 11(c)(1)(C).  The defendant, Elan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., is charged with one

count of introducing into interstate commerce a misbranded drug, Zonegran, by reason of the

drug being inadequately labeled for its intended uses in violation of Title 21, United States Code,

Sections 331(a), 333(a)(1) and 352(f)(1).  For the reasons set forth below, the government

submits that the Court should sentence Elan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., in accordance with the terms

of the Plea Agreement.   The Court has set the date of February 1, 2011 for the defendant to enter

its plea of guilty and to be sentenced.  

I. THE PROPOSED GLOBAL RESOLUTION

The proposed global resolution in this case represents the culmination of a complex joint 

investigation regarding the sales and marketing practices within the United States relating to the

Anti-Epileptic drug, Zonegran (also known by the chemical name Zonisamide), by Elan

Corporation, plc (hereafter “Elan”) and its subsidiary, Elan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (hereafter

“EPI”).  The components of the global resolution are as follows:
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1. EPI has agreed to plead guilty to one count of introducing into interstate
commerce a misbranded drug, Zonegran, by reason of the drug being
inadequately labeled for its intended uses in violation of Title 21, United States
Code, Sections 331(a), 333(a)(1) and 352(f)(1), and to pay a criminal fine in the
amount of ninety-seven million fifty thousand two hundred sixty-six dollars
($97,050,266) to be paid within one week of the date of sentencing (See Plea
Agreement);

2. EPI will pay a mandatory special assessment of $125 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. '
3013, which shall be paid to the Clerk of Court on or before the date of sentencing
(See Plea Agreement); and 

3. EPI will criminally forfeit substitute assets in the amount of $3,600,000 (See Plea
Agreement);  

4. Elan has agreed to settle its federal False Claims Act liability for a total amount of
$102,890,517, plus interest (Civil Settlement Agreement, Exhibit B to the Plea
Agreement);

5. The United States has agreed not to prosecute Elan for conduct described in a side
letter agreement between the United States and Elan (Exhibit D to the Plea
Agreement and Corporate Side Letter, attached as Exhibit 1 hereto); and 

6. Elan and EPI have agreed to comply with the terms of a Corporate Integrity
Agreement (attached hereto as Exhibit 2). 

All aspects of the Plea Agreement, including the civil and administrative remedies, are

contingent upon the Court’s acceptance of the sentence as proposed by the parties .

II. APPLICABLE LEGAL FRAMEWORK

At all times material to allegations set forth in the Information:

The Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) was the federal agency of the United States

responsible for protecting the health and safety of the public by enforcing the Federal Food Drug

and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”), 21 United States Code, Section 301, et seq. and ensuring, among

other things, that drugs intended for use in humans were safe and effective for each of their

intended uses and that the labeling of such drugs bore true, complete and accurate information. 
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The FDCA, and its implementing regulations, required that, with certain exceptions not

relevant here, before a new drug could legally be introduced into interstate commerce, a sponsor

of a new drug submit and obtain approval of an new drug application (“NDA”) from the FDA. 

The FDA required that the NDA include proposed labeling for the proposed intended

uses of the drug which included, among other things, the conditions for therapeutic use.  The

NDA was also required to contain, to the satisfaction of the FDA, data generated in adequate and

well-controlled trials that demonstrated that the drug would be safe and effective when used in

accordance with the proposed labeling.

An NDA sponsor was not permitted to promote and market a new drug until it had an

approved NDA, including approval for the proposed labeling.  Moreover, if approved, the

sponsor was permitted to promote and market the drug only for the medical conditions, uses and

dosages specified in the approved labeling.  Uses not approved by the FDA, including dosages

not approved in the drug's labeling, were known as "unapproved" or "off-label" uses.

The FDCA, and its implementing regulations, required the sponsor to file a Supplemental

NDA (or “sNDA”), in order to label or promote a drug for uses or dosages different from the

conditions for uses and dosages specified in the approved labeling.  The sNDA was required to

include a description of the newly proposed indications for use, and evidence consisting of well-

controlled clinical studies, sufficient to demonstrate that the drug was safe and effective for the

newly proposed therapeutic use.  Only upon FDA approval of the sNDA could the sponsor

promote the drug for the new intended use.

The FDCA provided that a drug was misbranded if, among other things, its labeling did

not contain adequate directions for use.  21 U.S.C. § 352(f)(1).  As the phrase was used in the
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FDCA and its regulations, adequate directions for use could not be written for medical

indications or uses for which the drug had not been approved and proven to be safe and effective

through adequate and well-controlled clinical studies.   

The FDCA prohibited causing the introduction or delivery for introduction into interstate

commerce of, or introducing or delivering for introduction into interstate commerce of, any drug

that was misbranded.  21 U.S.C. § 331(a).

III. BASIS FOR THE SENTENCE

The United States submits that the following provides a substantial basis for the agreed

upon sentence included in the plea agreement:  

EPI was a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in South San

Francisco, California.  EPI was a wholly owned subsidiary of Elan, a publicly traded Irish

corporation headquartered in Dublin, Ireland.  During the relevant time frame, EPI developed,

marketed and sold pharmaceutical products in the United States.  From May 2000 through April

2004, EPI marketed, promoted and sold Zonegran, an anti-epileptic drug (“AED”), within the

United States, including in the District of Massachusetts.  On April 28, 2004, EPI sold Zonegran,

the drug’s assets, the United States license to market and sell Zonegran, and the Zonegran sales

force to another pharmaceutical company for approximately $128.5 million.

The Zonegran Approval Process

In March 1997, EPI acquired the license for Zonegran from a predecessor company

which had filed the NDA for Zonegran with the FDA.  In January 1999, EPI became the sponsor

of the NDA.  On March 27, 2000, the FDA approved Zonegran for use as adjunctive therapy

(combination therapy) in the treatment of partial seizures in adults over the age of 16 with
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epilepsy (the “approved use”).  

In its approval letter for Zonegran, the FDA expressly did not approve the use of

Zonegran in pediatric patients, and noted specifically that EPI had not fulfilled the required

studies to gain approval for use in pediatric patients.  At the same time, the FDA raised with EPI 

concerns about the safety of the use of Zonegran in children due to the incidence of potentially

severe side effects, including but not limited to oligohidrosis (decreased sweating) and

hyperthermia (overheating).  

In response, EPI advised FDA that EPI would conduct Phase 4 (post-marketing) studies

on the pediatric use of Zonegran.  However, in or about July 2003, EPI made a clear-cut

“business decision” to discontinue those studies, but did not notify FDA of this decision until

mid-August 2003.  EPI never submitted data to the FDA to demonstrate the safety and efficacy

of Zonegran for use in children, and the FDA never approved Zonegran for pediatric use.

On or about April 19, 2000, EPI submitted an sNDA to the FDA seeking approval of two

lower dosage strengths of Zonegran, 25 mg and 50mg.  EPI's market analysis indicated that an

approval of the lower doses would increase the opportunity for Zonegran to be used for several

off-label or unapproved uses, particularly use in children and in patients who suffered migraine

headaches. 

From March 2000 through August 2001, EPI advised the FDA that it would conduct

Phase 4 clinical studies on Zonegran concerning the safety and efficacy of Zonegran in

monotherapy (use alone) and not in combination therapy.  EPI never submitted an sNDA for the

use of Zonegran in monotherapy and the FDA never approved such use. 

In April 2001, EPI analyzed the return on investment of conducting further clinical trials
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to obtain FDA approval for additional uses of Zonegran, and explicitly considered the expense of

conducting the necessary clinical trials, the time needed to complete the trials, and the pending

expiration of the Zonegran patent in March 2005.  Over time, EPI made a series of business

decisions not to seek FDA approval for any use of Zonegran beyond the approved use or

additional doses beyond the lower doses of 25 and 50 mgs, while at the same time making

decisions to market Zonegran for the same unapproved uses.  

On August 22, 2003, EPI received FDA approval for these two lower dosages of

Zonegran.  In August of 2003 and thereafter, EPI marketed the newly approved 25 and 50 mg

doses of Zonegran as “flexible dosing options” to increase sales of Zonegran for unapproved

uses, including for use in children and in patients who suffered migraine headaches.  

The FDA never approved Zonegran for any use other than the approved use, and in

particular, never approved the use of Zonegran for children; monotherapy; neuropathic pain;

migraines or chronic daily headaches; obesity or weight loss; eating disorders such as binge

eating, bulimia nervosa and anorexia; psychiatric disorders including mania and bipolar; and

movement disorders such as Parkinson’s Disease (collectively, the “unapproved uses”). 

Nevertheless, as detailed below, EPI marketed Zonegran for each of these unapproved uses.

The Limited Market for Zonegran

From on and after 1999 and continuing at least through the date of launch in May of

2000, EPI closely examined the potential markets for all potential uses of AEDs and the actual

sales related to these uses.  EPI was well aware that over 50% of the AED prescriptions written

were for uses beyond Epilepsy.  As a result, both prior to and after launch, EPI employees

analyzed the potential for sales for uses of Zonegran that were beyond the use applied for in the
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Zonegran NDA.  

After receiving approval on April 27, 2000, EPI launched its marketing and sales

campaign for Zonegran in the United States. Both prior to and after the launch of Zonegran, EPI

marketing employees and data analysts conducted extensive evaluations of the Anti-Epileptic

Drug (“AED”) market.  The AED market was divided into “older” and “newer” AEDs –

Zonegran was included in the “newer” AED class of drugs.  Zonegran was the last of three new

AEDs to be introduced to the market during the year 2000, and the last of seven AEDs on the

market at that time.  The other AEDs had broader approvals from the FDA than did Zonegran..

Zonegran's placement as the last AED to enter the market during 2000 immediately and

adversely impacted sales of Zonegran.  

In 2000, EPI's first marketing campaign and sales detail aid for Zonegran was called, "A

Track Record of Success." This marketing campaign conformed generally to the approved use of

the drug.  It focused on the safety and efficacy of the drug and included fair balance regarding

any adverse effects. This sales aid accurately represented the drug's half-life parameters, i.e., the

amount of time that it took the drug to be absorbed by the body, which is a marker of its

effectiveness.  Half-life parameters were especially important in the treatment of Epilepsy

because a constant therapeutic level of drug in a patient's blood stream was required to prevent

seizures.  The "Track Record of Success" sales aid did not contain any graphic illustration or

diagram highlighting the drug's "mechanism of action," as did subsequent campaigns.  This sales

aid was required to be reviewed by the FDA as part of the approval process prior to the launch of

the drug.   When using this sales aid during its first year of sales, Zonegran's market share ranged

between 0.22% and 1.0%.
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In 2002, EPI came under significant financial pressure as a result of, among other factors,

an investigation into EPI’s financial practices by the Securities and Exchange Commission,

during which EPI’s stock prices dropped from a high of $65 per share to $2 per share in six

months.  As a result, EPI evaluated various means to raise cash, including which drugs to divest

and which drugs to retain because of potential profit.  As part of that evaluation, EPI conducted

market research and decided to retain Zonegran because of its large potential for growth.  In

these documents, EPI’s marketing and sales teams noted that the areas of potential growth were 

particularly in the areas of unapproved uses.  With these areas of growth in mind, EPI developed

marketing and sales strategies to capture these off-label markets. 

Sales Campaigns Designed to Obtain Off-Label Sales

In response to its financial difficulties, EPI developed a series of promotional sales

campaigns to obtain additional revenues through sales of Zonegran for unapproved uses.  These

sales and marketing campaigns became increasingly and deftly directed to off-label uses. 

 A. Expect More.   In or about April 2002, EPI launched a promotional campaign for

Zonegran entitled, "Expect More, Expect Zonegran," that included the direction to the sales

force to:

* "Expect More than adjunctive therapy for partial seizures. Sell MOAs

[mechanisms of action]– allows physician to think beyond just partial seizures."

* “Expect more than just use in epilepsy. Opens doors for psychiatry, pain,

headache, etc."

The sales aid for the campaign included a diagram that highlighted Zonegran's "Multiple

Mechanisms of Action" which related primarily to unapproved uses for Zonegran in psychiatric
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disorders, movement disorders, obesity or weight loss, pain management and headaches.  The

sales force was trained to use these sales aids to generate off-label sales of Zonegran. 

B.  Demand More.  In or about December 2002, EPI introduced the "Demand

More" promotional campaign which included a sales aid that depicted a group of young adults

holding hands, climbing a mountain, and a graphic diagram that highlighted Zonegran’s

"multiple and complementary mechanisms of action."  This sales aid included, among other

claims, misleading information such as (I) a comparison chart of the potential mechanisms of

action of Zonegran with that of its competitor drugs, noting that only Zonegran covered each of

the highlighted characteristics, a chart which was not based upon any head-to-head clinical trials;

and (ii) the misleading claim that "Zonegran has the longest half-life of the newer AEDs," a

claim not based on any head-to-head clinical trials, and which was true only when Zonegran was

used alone, or as monotherapy, an unapproved use.

C. Drug T Comparison Flashcard.  In early 2003, EPI created a “Zonegran-Drug T

Comparison Flashcard” to go “head-to-head” with Drug T, which had a broader indication and

was well-known to be used for chronic and migraine headaches for which it eventually received

approval through an sNDA.  The training guide for the sales force explained that:  "[t]his hard

hitting tool is going to help you take share from Drug T and this primer is going to show you

how!"  The flashcard contained misleading information regarding the number of patients who

had been treated by each drug; misleading claims relating to the similarity in efficacy of the

drugs, unsupported claims regarding Zonegran’s multiple mechanisms of action, improper

claims of differentiation between the drugs and unsupported claims of the superiority of

Zonegran.  The sales force was told by EPI “never” to leave the flashcard behind, and to “use it
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until they [the FDA] pull it.”

D. Go Beyond the Max.  Early in 2003, EPI targeted Drug T as Zonegran’s number

one competitor and used a double entendre to get the implied message of superiority across to

the physicians.  This sales aid also featured people engaging in physical activities that members

of the sales force believed were uncommon for patients who suffered from epilepsy, such as

snowboarding.  The sales aid contained an even more detailed graphic diagram that emphasized

the "Multiple Mechanisms of Action" and highlighted qualities of Zonegran that were unrelated

to use in epilepsy.  The training materials for the sales force indicated, among other messages,

that:  "ZONEGRAN has also been shown to increase the levels of serotonin in the hippocampus"

and that "[r]esearch has shown that the serotonergic and dopaminergic effects of ZONEGRAN

are important to physicians who use AEDs for other purposes beyond epilepsy." 

EPI’s Promotional Techniques to Sell Zonegran for Unapproved Uses

Throughout the time that it sold Zonegran, EPI deliberately promoted Zonegran for uses

other than the approved use, including with false and/or misleading claims of safety and efficacy,

through the following methods, among others:

From the launch of Zonegran and thereafter, EPI identified physicians who were top

priorities for sales calls on "target lists" for the Zonegran sales force.  The "target lists" included

not only neurologists who treated adults with epilepsy, but also physicians who did not treat

epilepsy at all.  At various relevant times, those “target lists” included neurologists who

specialized in pediatrics; pain specialists; anesthesiologists; physical rehabilitation specialists;

neurologists who specialized in migraines and chronic daily headaches; and child and adult

psychiatrists.
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EPI trained, directed, and encouraged the sales representatives to promote Zonegran for

unapproved uses, including among others, pediatric use, pain, psychiatric disorders, chronic

headaches/migraines, and movement disorders.  EPI set sales quotas for the Zonegran sales

representatives which took into account all sales.  Sales representatives were unable to reach

these goals unless they actively promoted Zonegran for unapproved uses.  When sales

representatives complained to their district managers that they were unable to reach their goals

selling for the approved use, they were directed to sell the drug for unapproved uses.  Sales

bonuses were calculated on the numbers of prescriptions written by doctors for any use of the

drug, not just for the approved use.  Thus, sales representatives actively promoted Zonegran for

the unapproved uses to obtain sales and to reach their sales goals under the direction of company 

management.   

EPI developed and designed sales aids to assist the sales representatives in promoting

Zonegran for unapproved uses through discussions with non-epilepsy doctors.  The sales aids

were accompanied by training materials called "primers."  The primers contained examples of

specific dialog to be used by the sales representatives to explain the off-label meaning of graphic

illustrations and diagrams to doctors.  The graphic illustrations and diagrams were designed to

depict chemical reactions related to non-epilepsy conditions.  Through use of the diagrams and

sample scripts in the primers, sales representatives led doctors into conversations concerning

unapproved uses for Zonegran.  Sales representatives routinely used these guides to promote

Zonegran for uses other than the approved use of the drug.   

EPI used sham physician requests for medical information about unapproved uses in

order to provide unsolicited information to physicians about unapproved uses for Zonegran in
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the form of "Medical Letters."  The sales representatives were encouraged to use, and did use,

these medical letters to detail physicians.  One particular medical letter used by sales

representatives with pediatricians described how to administer Zonegran to a child by putting

contents of a Zonegran capsule into applesauce.  No mention was made about the fact that the

FDA had specifically not approved Zonegran for use in children due to the severe potential side

effects of oligohidrosis and hyperthermia.

EPI routinely provided promotional samples of Zonegran to physicians who EPI knew

did not treat epilepsy.  In August of 2002, when the company was expanding target lists to

include  psychiatrists, they began this sales promotion by delivering Zonegran samples to

psychiatrists.  

EPI funded purportedly independent continuing medical education programs ("CME")

with the purpose of disseminating messages to promote Zonegran for unapproved uses, including

specifically for chronic headache, bipolar and acute mania, for children, for obesity and pain. 

EPI hired advertising agencies to prepare standard promotional slides for Zonegran, had the

slides certified by other vendors as "CME," and distributed the slides to advocates for use in

presentations.

EPI employed a "robust publication strategy" whereby EPI initiated, funded, sponsored

articles to be written about how to prescribe Zonegran for unapproved uses.  In some instances,

EPI drafted or caused articles and presentations to physicians to be ghostwritten by EPI

employees or third-party vendors about the benefits of Zonegran for unapproved uses.  EPI

trained the sales force to detail physicians using these publications on unapproved uses.

EPI conducted “so-called” Advisory Board Meetings for physicians in exotic vacation

12

Case 1:10-cr-10431-MBB   Document 6    Filed 01/19/11   Page 12 of 19



spots such as Bermuda; Key Largo, Florida; Vail, Colorado; Banff, Canada and Tucson,

Arizona. During these conferences potential high prescribing physicians were invited on all

expense-paid trips to hear speeches on the use of Zonegran in pediatric patients, psychiatric

disorders including acute mania and bipolar disorder, neuropathic pain, weight loss, pain and

chronic headaches. As a result of the sales campaigns and promotional techniques to obtain

sales of Zonegran for unapproved uses, the sales of Zonegran increased dramatically.  From

August 2001 to August 2002, Zonegran prescriptions increased 80.4%; from the 4th quarter

2002 to 4th quarter 2003 Zonegran prescriptions increased 74.1%.  Zonegran revenue for the

year 2003 was up 87% over 2002 revenue. 

In April of 2004, EPI sold Zonegran, the drug’s assets, the United States license to

market and sell Zonegran, and the Zonegran sales force to another pharmaceutical company for

approximately $128.5 million.  Although that company took measures to restrict the illegal

promotion of Zonegran for unapproved uses, doctors who were previously called upon by the

EPI sales force continued to use the drug for unapproved uses based upon the prior conduct of

EPI employees.  Thus, the effect of the off-label marketing campaign continued well after the

drug was sold by EPI.

After the sale of Zonegran, EPI also divested several other drugs sold and marketed by

EPI in the United States.  Today, the only drug marketed by EPI in the United States is Tysabri,

which is co-marketed with another pharmaceutical company.  The company's present focus is on

research and development in the areas of Alzheimer's Disease, Parkinson's Disease, Multiple

Sclerosis and Crohn's disease.  For these reasons, the Corporate Integrity Agreement ("CIA")

(Exhibit 2) is forward-looking and will cover the marketing and sales of any drugs that may
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come to market during the period covered by the CIA.  

For all these reasons, the United States believes that the global resolution reached in this

case takes into consideration the nature and seriousness of the offense, as well as the need for the

sentence imposed.  It will promote respect for the law in this highly regulated industry and is just

punishment for the offense committed.  The fine imposed and the CIA will adequately deter any

future criminal conduct by this company.  Should another violation occur, the company will be

subject to a potential felony charge.  21 U.S.C. § 333(a)(2).  

IV. SENTENCING GUIDELINES ANALYSIS AND PLEA AGREEMENT

A. DETERMINATION OF THE CRIMINAL FINE

The parties agreed that the maximum fine for violation of 21 U.S.C. §§ 331(a), 333(a)(1),

352(f)) is a fine of $200,000, or twice the gross gain derived from the offense or twice the gross

loss to a person other than the defendant, whichever is greatest.  See 18 U.S.C. §§ 3571(c)(5) and

(d).  EPI’s pecuniary gain from the misbranded drug, Zonegran, totaled approximately

$80,875,222 the maximum possible fine in connection with this charge is $161,750,444. 

The parties agreed that while the fine provisions of the United States Sentencing

Guidelines do not apply to organizational defendants for misdemeanor violations of the Food,

Drug, and Cosmetic Act, see U.S.S.G. § 8C2.1, the agreed-upon fine is consonant with those

guidelines and takes into account the sentencing factors set forth in both 18 U.S.C. § 3553

(imposition of a sentence) and 18 U.S.C.§ 3572 (imposition of a fine).  

The parties agreed that the base fine is $80,875,222, which was the pecuniary gain to EPI

from the offense.  See U.S.S.G. §§  8C2.4(a), 8C2.3.  

The parties also agreed that pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 8C2.5, the culpability score is six (6). 
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The government determined this score as follows:  (a) base culpability score is five (5) pursuant

to U.S.S.G. § 8C2.5(a); (b) add three (3) points pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 8C2.5(b)(3) in that the

organization had 200 or more employees and tolerance of the offense by substantial authority

personnel was pervasive throughout the organization; and (c) deduct two (2) points pursuant to

U.S.S.G. § 8C2.5(g)(2) in recognition of  EPI’s full cooperation and clearly demonstrated

recognition and affirmative acceptance of responsibility for its criminal conduct.

The parties agreed that pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 8C2.6, the appropriate multiplier range

associated with a culpability score of six (6) is 1.20 to 2.40.  Thus, the Guideline Fine Range is

$97,050,266 to $161,750,444.  See U.S.S.G. §§ 8C2.7(a), (b); 18 U.S.C. §§ 3571(c), (d).

The parties agreed that EPI should pay a criminal fine of $97,050,266 for the violation in

Count One of the Information.  This fine amount is within the Guideline Fine Range and is

appropriate as this amount takes into consideration the relevant sentencing factors discussed

above. 

B. PROBATION

The government did not seek a period of probation because of the comprehensive and

forward-looking five-year CIA that was executed between Elan and the Office of the Inspector

General of the Department of Health and Human Services (“OIG”).  See Exhibit 2 attached.  As

previously noted, EPI is a wholly owned subsidiary of Elan.  The five-year CIA requires Elan to

implement a compliance program that addresses present and future promotional activities and

regulatory functions.  Among other things, the CIA requires that the Board of Directors (or a

committee of the Board) annually review the company’s compliance program with the help of an

outside expert and certify its effectiveness; that certain senior executives annually certify that
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their departments or functional areas are compliant; that Elan send doctors a letter notifying them

about the settlement; and that the company post on its website information about payments to

doctors, such as honoraria, travel or lodging.  Elan is subject to exclusion from Federal health

care programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, for a material breach of the CIA and subject to

monetary penalties for less significant breaches. The OIG has entered CIAs with hundreds of

other providers and has a well-established CIA monitoring process.  Accordingly, the

government submits that OIG is in the best position to effectively monitor the conduct of the

relevant entities, Elan and EPI, going forward.  

C. VICTIMS AND RESTITUTION

EPI will plead guilty to one count of introducing into interstate commerce a misbranded

drug Zonegran by reason of the drug being inadequately labeled for its intended uses in violation

of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 331(a), 333(a)(2) and 352(f).  

The Victim and Witness Protection Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3663 (“VWPA”) and the Mandatory

Victim Restitution Act (“MVRA”), 18 U.S.C. § 3663A, are not directly applicable in this case

because the offense to which EPI will plead guilty is not covered by these statutes.  See 18

U.S.C. § 3663(a) (covering restitution only for offenses under Title 18; 21 U.S.C. §§ 841, 848(a),

849, 856, 861 & 863; and 49 U.S.C. §§ 5124, 46312, 46502 & 46504 except when the MVRA

applies); 18 U.S.C. § 3663A(c)(1) (covering restitution only for crimes of violence under 18

U.S.C. § 16; offenses against property under Title 18 or 21 U.S.C. § 856(a); and offenses

described in 18 U.S.C. § 1365).  Although the Court has the authority to order restitution as a

condition of probation, 18 U.S.C. § 3563(b)(2), or supervised release, 18 U.S.C. § 3583(d), and

pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 5E1.1(a)(2), as mentioned above, the government does not seek a period
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of probation or supervised release in this case because of the existence of a comprehensive CIA

between Elan and the Department of Health and Human Services. 

The Civil Settlement Agreement resolving the Civil Action (Exhibit B to the Plea

Agreement), requires the payment of $102,890,517, plus interest, which resolves the claims for

reimbursement for Zonegran by any federal and state health care programs.  The parties agreed

that the complication and prolongation of the sentencing process that would result from an

attempt to fashion any additional restitution order outweighs the need to provide restitution to

potential victims in this case, especially where, as here: (1) any loss suffered by government

payers will be compensated fully as defined in the Civil Settlement Agreement, and (2) given the

numerous unknown individuals and insurance companies that purchased Zonegran more than six

years ago, tracing reimbursements to the various unknown insurance companies and patients and

determining the apportionment of payment pertaining to the product at issue would be

extraordinarily complicated, if not impossible.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3663(a)(1)(B)(ii).  Accordingly,

the United States agreed not to seek a separate restitution order as to EPI as part of the resolution

of the criminal case. 

In addition, under any of the above provisions, even if they were to apply, the Court may

decline to make an order of restitution if it determines that the complication and prolongation of

the sentencing process outweighs the need for restitution.  18 U.S.C. §§ 3663(a)(1)(B)(ii),

3663A(c)(3)(B).  See also U.S.S.G. § 5E1.1(b)(2).  Determining actual victims from the conduct,

and the harm resulting therefrom, is a complicated process. This is especially true when the

defendant has divested the subject drug, Zonegran, more than six years ago.  Indeed, should a

single entity or individual make a claim for restitution in this matter, the Court would likely be
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required to hold a mini-trial to determine whether the claimant is a victim at all, and, if so,

whether the claimant suffered any losses.  The parties contend that determining complex issues

of fact related to the cause or amount of any victim’s losses would complicate and prolong the

sentencing process to a degree that the need to provide restitution to any victim is outweighed by

the burden on the sentencing process.

D. FORFEITURE

The forfeiture component of the plea agreement and Information arises from the FDCA’s

provision for seizing misbranded and unapproved drugs.  21 U.S.C. § 334 (allowing proceedings

on libel of information, for condemnation, against drugs that are misbranded, adulterated or

unapproved so that the government can seize or destroy them).  These proceedings are by their

nature classic civil forfeiture proceedings.  Under federal forfeiture law, the government can

pursue criminal forfeiture in any case where the defendant is charged with a violation of an Act

of Congress which contains a civil forfeiture remedy.  See 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c) (allowing

criminal forfeiture where the defendant is charged “in a criminal case with a violation of an Act

of Congress for which the civil or criminal forfeiture of property is authorized ...”).  Thus, if civil

forfeiture is authorized in a statute such as the FDCA, then criminal forfeiture is as well.  As the

misbranded drug (Zonegran) is no longer available for seizure or destruction, the government

can seek substitute assets as it has done here.  See 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c) (the procedures set forth

in 21 U.S.C. § 853 apply to this criminal forfeiture); 21 U.S.C. § 853(p) (allowing the forfeiture

of substitute assets if the items subject to forfeiture are no longer available).  

As noted earlier, EPI sold the license to sell Zonegran in the United States in April of

2004.   Therefore, the parties agreed that EPI should forfeit $3,600,000 in substitute assets for
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the misbranded Zonegran which cannot be located upon exercise of due diligence, or which have

been transferred or sold to, or deposited with a third party, placed beyond the jurisdiction of the

Court, substantially diminished in value, or commingled with other property which cannot be

divided without difficulty.  

V. CONCLUSION

The United States therefore respectfully recommends and requests that the Court enter

the agreed-upon sentence set forth in the plea agreement and described herein.  

 Respectfully submitted,

CARMEN M. ORTIZ
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

DATED: January 18, 2011 By: /s/ Mary Elizabeth Carmody
     MARY ELIZABETH CARMODY

ANTON P. GIEDT
Assistant U.S. Attorneys

/s/ Patrick H. Hearn    
PATRICK H. HEARN
Trial Attorney
Office of Consumer Litigation
United States Department of Justice

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that this document filed through the ECF system will be sent
electronically to the registered participants as identified on the Notice of Electronic Filing
(NEF).

/s/ Mary Elizabeth Carmody   
     MARY ELIZABETH CARMODY

Assistant U.S. Attorney 
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